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In World War I and World War II narrow gauge boxcars were used to move American 

troops to and from the fighting fronts in France. At the end of WWII, they were also used 

to move American POWs from Germany to France. These narrow cars, about half the  

capacity of American boxcars, measured 20.5 feet long and 8.5 feet wide. They were  

commonly known in France as “40 and eights.” They would hold 40 men or eight horses.  

At Antique Acres 

Campground on Waverly 

Road in Cedar Falls, you 

will find an old boxcar 

tucked under a protective 

cover. Many in Iowa know 

nothing of the amazing 

history behind this narrow 

gauge boxcar, one of the 

49 “Merci” boxcars.  



At the end of WWII, France was destitute. Drew Pearson, a columnist and radio  

announcer in the U.S. at the time, inspired Americans to help the people of France. 

Friendship Trains were organized throughout the U.S., gathering fruits, medicines, 

sugar, and wheat. There were 700 carloads equaling $40 million in food and relief 

supplies. The trains gathered at New York harbor, and the cargo was delivered to 

France in December 1947.    

 

The American Friendship Trains inspired a veteran and rail worker in France to  

suggest France reciprocate with “40 and eight” boxcars loaded with gifts of  

gratitude. Each car was adorned with the Coats of Arms of each province in France. 

There was one boxcar for each of the 48 states, and a 49th car for the District of 

Columbia and the Territory of Hawaii to share. The people of France had little to  

offer, but six million French families filled these cars with hand-made items and 

gifts. There were also gifts of great value: a Louis XV carriage, the first motorcycle 

ever built, 50 rare paintings, and the President of France donated 49 Sérves vases. 

In 1948, these 49 boxcars were loaded on the ship Magellan. The ship sailed into 

New York harbor with the huge inscription “Merci America.” Normal customs  

procedures were waived and the precious cargo was unloaded duty free. The 

“Merci” cars did not fit on American gauge rails, so they were put on flat cars and 

distributed about the nation.  

 

Iowa’s “Merci” boxcar arrived in February 1949 and made stops in the eastern part 

of the state. It is unclear how this famous boxcar ended up at Antique Acres 

campground in Cedar Falls, but Iowa is fortunate that it did. These boxcars were 

built between 1872 and 1885. They are well over 100 years old today. The State  

Historical Museum holds in its collection 158 items from the Iowa “Merci” boxcar. 

 

The items in the collection include: books, booklets, calendars, cards, a crucifix, 

drawings, letters, magazines, music, notes, paintings, pamphlets, photographs, 

postcards, a purse, stamps, and tickets. 

The symbol of the “Merci Train” is a frontal view of 

a steam engine with flowers on the pilot which are 

symbolic of Flanders Field, where many American 

“Doughboys” from WWI are buried. The drawing 

was adopted as the official symbol of the French 

Merci Train Committee, and a plaque of the  

drawing was placed on each of the “Merci”  

boxcars. The committee also had gift tags made 

bearing the symbol, and one accompanied each of 

the more than 52,000 gifts that came in the  

boxcars. 






